
 

Corporate Parenting Panel Agenda 

Date: Monday 18 March 2024 
 
Time: 6.00 pm 
 
Venue: The Auditorium - Harrow Council Hub, Kenmore 

Avenue, Harrow, HA3 8LU 

Membership  (Quorum 3)  

Chair: Councillor Hitesh Karia  

Conservative Councillors: Matthew Goodwin-Freeman 
Chetna Halai 
 

Labour Councillors: Simon Brown (VC) 
Aneka Shah-Levy 
 

Non-Voting Advisory Member: Valerie Griffin 
 

Reserve Members:  
Conservative Reserve Members: 1. Vipin Mithani 

2. Govind Bharadia 
3. Zak Wagman 
 

Labour Reserve Members: 1. Sasi Suresh 
2. Krishna Suresh 
 

 
Officers:  

 

Contact:  Sonia Karimzada 
E-mail: sonia.karimzada@harrow.gov.uk 

Scan this code for the electronic agenda: 

 
 



Corporate Parenting Panel - 18 March 2024 2 

Useful Information 

Joining the Meeting virtually 

The meeting is open to the public and can be viewed online at London Borough of Harrow 
webcasts 
 
Attending the Meeting in person 

Directions by car: 
 
Go along Kenmore Avenue and head towards the Kenton Recreation Ground.  When 
approaching the end of the Kenmore Avenue turn right before reaching the Kadwa Patidar 
Centre. 
 
You will be admitted on a first-come-first basis and directed to seats. 

Please:  

(1) Stay seated.  
(2) Access the meeting agenda online at Browse meetings - Corporate Parenting Panel 
(3) Put mobile devices on silent.  
(4) Follow instructions of the Security Officers. 
(5) Advise Security on your arrival if you are a registered speaker. 

Filming / recording  

This meeting may be recorded or filmed, and if you choose to attend, you will be deemed to 
have consented to this.  Any recording may be published on the Council website. 
 

Agenda publication date:  Friday 8 March 2024 

https://harrow.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://harrow.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=788&Year=0


 

Corporate Parenting Panel - 18 March 2024 3 

Agenda - Part I  
1. Attendance by Reserve Members  

To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve Members. 
 

2. Declarations of Interest  
To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests, arising from 
business to be transacted at this meeting, from all Members present. 
 

3. Minutes  
That the minutes of the meeting held on 1st February 2024 be taken as read and signed 
as a correct record. 
 

4. Public Questions  
To receive any public questions received. 
  
Questions will be asked in the order in which they were received.  There will be a time 
limit of 15 minutes for the asking and answering of public questions. 
  
[The deadline for receipt of public questions if 3.00 pm, 13th March 2024.  
Questions should be sent to publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk  
No person may submit more than one question]. 
 

5. Petitions  
To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors. 
 

6. Deputations  
To receive deputations (if any). 
 

7. Update from Participation Service and Care Experienced Young People (Pages 5 - 
14) 
Update from Participation Officer. 
 

8. Update and performance for Corporate Parenting Service (To Follow) 
Update from Director of Children Services. 
 

9. Update from Coram Voice (Pages 15 - 28) 
Presentation from Coram Voice Officer. 
 

10. IRO Annual Report (Pages 29 - 44) 
Update from Children and Young People Services. 

 
11. Virtual School Performance Update (Pages 45 - 54) 

Update from Virtual School Headteacher. 
 

12. Update and performance on Health for Children Looked After (Pages 55 - 64) 
Update from the Named Nurse. 
 

13. Any Other Urgent Business  
Which cannot otherwise be dealt with. 
 

mailto:publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk


 

Corporate Parenting Panel - 18 March 2024 4 

Agenda - Part II - Nil  
Data Protection Act Notice  

The Council will record the meeting and will place the recording on the Council’s website. 
  
[Note:  The questions and answers will not be reproduced in the minutes.] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Update from the 
Participation Service
Joy Bell – Participation Officer

March 2024

5

A
genda Item

 7
P

ages 5 to 14



During 2024, we have:

• connected 17 young people with free gym memberships, including those out of borough

• delivered an ‘experts by experience’ training session, run by three care-experienced young adults, 
for our current cohort of international Social Workers and Newly-Qualified Social Workers

• hosted three events and activities for children looked after – including our first 18+ outing 
exclusively for care leavers

• rolled out Transport For London’s 18-25 Care Leaver Discount to over 250 care-experienced 
young adults – with 31 applications currently being progressed 

• begun to roll out NHS North-West London’s free prescriptions incentive to an early cohort of 
care-experienced young adults 

6



On 15th February 2024, we relaunched our Care-Experienced Celebration – an annual 
event dedicated to recognising the incredible achievements of our children looked 
after.

Children and teenagers were recognised by their Social Workers for exceptional 
school attendance; resilience in the face of adversity; fantastic academic 
achievements; sporting successes; demonstrating curiosity and trying new things; 
and being a role model to others. 

Young people were able to enjoy a silent disco, balloon-modelling, face-painting, arts 
and crafts, a photobooth and a wood-fired pizza van. One of our incredible care 
leavers photographed the event!
 

7



“I really liked being with people who were just 
like me, because I didn’t feel different.”

8



“Thank you for organising this – it was a great 
event. [child] really enjoyed it, as did I.”

9



“The pizza is my favourite part!”

10



“I am going to take my balloon animals to school 
to show my friends!”

11



For Black Boys…
in conjunction with the Royal Court Theatre

“He absolutely loved it… 
and he has asked to kept in the
loop about any future plays.”

“The show was FANTASTIC!”

TopGolf
“Thank you for arranging this 

trip. It was beautiful.”

“Golf is something I want to 
keep doing in my spare time.”

12



Lords
a four-night residential holiday for eighteen 

young people – aged 15-18

including: high-ropes courses; archery; 
bushcraft; orienteering; climbing; fencing; 

raft-building; and kayaking

Isle of Wight

Care-Experienced Art ExhibitionLondon Lions

an activity day at Lords – including a private 
tour of the grounds and an opportunity to 

play a game of cricket on the field

plus tickets to see Day 1 and Day 2 of Sri 
Lanka vs England

tickets to see London Lions in their season-
opening basketball matches at the Copper 

Box Arena

back due to popular demand…!

exhibiting the work of our young artists, 
photographers, sculptors and creators – 

with a private view on Monday 25th 
November

13



14



Coram Voice and London 
Borough of Harrow

Introduction to Advocacy and IV Services

15

A
genda Item

 9
P

ages 15 to 28



The Advocacy Service

16



What is advocacy? 

Advocates empower children and young people to make 
sure that their rights are respected, and their wishes and 

feelings are heard in decisions made about them.

They are independent, empowering and child-led. 

17



Who do we provide advocacy to in Harrow?
- Children in care 
- Care leavers
- Children and young people aged 4-25 accessing Children’s Social 

Care 
- Disabled children receiving short breaks under s20
- Children at risk of homelessness, including separated minors

18



We have provided advocacy for 22 young 
people in Harrow so far

19



We have provided advocacy for 22 young 
people in Harrow so far

- Aged 6 – 23 years old
- 9 identified themselves as having a disability 
- 15 identified as male, 7 as female 
- 10 are living in Harrow

20



We have provided advocacy for 22 young 
people in Harrow so far

- Even split of young people under a Care Order, 
accommodated under s20, and Care Leavers

- 7 referred by social services, 4 by relatives, the rest were 
a mix of referrals by other professionals and by self

21



What issues do young people want support 
with in Harrow?

1. Housing (5) and Homelessness (2)
2. Moving placement (7)
3. Support at meetings (4)
4. Education, Employment and Training (4) 
5. Contact with Family (3)

22



The Independent Visiting Service

23



What is Independent Visiting? 

A reliable, consistent, constant and independent friend.

We aim to ensure that the IV continues to visit a child despite 
other changes in that child’s life, until their 18th birthday. 

An IV is always child-focused.

24



We have matched 1 IV pair in Harrow so far

- 4 children are currently on the waiting list 

- 7 volunteers are waiting to be matched 

- 9 volunteers have nearly finished their on-boarding process

- 14 new volunteer applications received since October

25



My IV is funny and nice. She’s thoughtful and 
always asks what I would like to do. She’s always 
thinking about what I want. It gives me a good 

relaxing day so that I can clear my mind.
 

Harrow young person

26



Any questions?

27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Harrow Council   
Children’s and Young People 

Services 
IRO Annual Report  

1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29

Agenda Item 10
Pages 29 to 44



Page | 1 
 

 

Harrow Council – Children’s Services 
IRO Annual Report 2022/23 

 

 

The Contribution of Independent Reviewing Officers to Quality Assuring 
and Improving Services for Children in Care  
 
This Annual IRO report provides quantitative and qualitative evidence relating to the IRO 
Services in Harrow as required by statutory guidance.  
 
The IRO Annual Report must be presented to the Corporate Parenting Board and the 
Local Safeguarding Children Board. 
 
 

 

Purpose of service and legal context 
 

The Independent Review Officers’ (IRO) service is set within the statutory framework of 
the updated IRO Handbook, linked to revised Care Planning Regulations and Guidance 
which were introduced in April 2011. The responsibility of the IRO is to have management 
of the Review process and a wider overview of the case including regular monitoring and 
follow-up between Reviews. The IRO has a key role in relation to the improvement of care 
planning for Children Looked After and for challenging drift and delay.  
 

The National Children’s Bureau (NCB) research ‘The Role of the Independent Reviewing 
Officers in England’ (March 2014) provides a wealth of information and findings regarding 
the efficacy of IRO services. The foreword written by Mr Justice Peter Jackson; made the 
following comment: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The NCB research outlines several important recommendations with three having an 
influence on IROs work plan priorities which remain in effect:  
 

1. Where IROs identify barriers to their ability to fulfil their role, or systemic failures in the 
service to looked after children, they must raise this formally with senior managers. 
These challenges and the response should be included in the Annual Report. 
 

2. IROs method for monitoring cases and how this activity is recorded should be clarified. 
 

3. A review of IROs core activities and additional tasks should be undertaken. There is a 
need to establish whether IROs additional activities compromise independence or 
capacity. 

The Independent Reviewing Officer must be the 
visible embodiment of our commitment to meet our 
legal obligations to this special group of children. 
The health and effectiveness of the IRO service is a 
direct reflection of whether we are meeting that 
commitment, or whether we are failing. 

30



Page | 2 
 

 
 

Key messages – learning and improvement  
 

This Annual IRO report provides quantitative and qualitative evidence relating to the IRO 
services in Harrow, as required by statutory guidance. 
 

Improvement priorities identified for 2022/23 included:  
 
 

 

• IRO service, including administrative staff to continue to monitor that correct processes 
are followed and help raise standards with regards to invitations being sent out in a 
timely manner with consultation papers; social worker’s reports for reviews always 
completed before the review and that information is accurately recorded on casefiles 
and kept up to date to reflect the child’s journey. 
   

• IRO reports to continue to reflect and ensure the voice of the child; link with the new 
Participation Officer to promote this. 

 

• IRO’s to progress their Champion roles. 
 

• To continue to undertake some Reviews in Children’s Centres in the community using 
a Hybrid model, having face to face contact with Children, Young People, Parents and 
Carers where agencies can contribute virtually 
 

• To continue to monitor Health Assessments/SDQs to ensure that they are supporting 
physical and emotional health outcomes.   
 

• To continue to monitor the quality of Personal Education Plans and that they are being 
used to support children and young people attend and attain in their education and 
support their ambitions for a move towards independence, further education, and 
employment. 

 

• To continue to monitor care planning and escalate through the Dispute Resolution 
Protocol and Care Planning Group, where there is unreasonable delay or no 
permanency plan by 2nd Review.  Reviews will continue to be delivered in a timely 
manner to meet statutory requirements. 

  

• Maintaining standards of good quality IRO reports and recommendations which are 
SMART and to review in supervision. 

 

• Understanding the needs of the ethnically diverse cohort of young people and to 
understand the cultural issues with confidence. 

 
 
 
 

Professional Profile of the IRO Service 
 
The IRO Service sits within Quality Assurance and Service Improvement with its core 
functions consisting of reviewing plans for children in care and monitoring the Local 
Authority in respect of its corporate parenting and safeguarding responsibilities.  Their 
position within this service area has supported the IROs need for independence and 

31



Page | 3 
 

challenge as their management line, up to and including the Assistant Director, is different 
to that of the children and young peoples’ social workers and managers. 
 

The team has been stable for several years with children and young people experiencing 
continuity of IRO.  The IROs bring a wealth of knowledge and stability to the service.  
 
IROs are part of Quality Assurance and Service Improvement and are qualified Social 
Workers. The service during the year has experienced some changes with one of the 
IRO’s having a career break and there has been a period of long-term sickness with the 
team.  This did place some pressure on the service however, long term agency staff have 
supported the service.  There are 3.2 permanent IRO posts which are currently covered by 
4 members of staff, 3 full-time and 1 part-time.  In terms of gender and diversity, the profile 
of the service does reflect the Looked After population and IROs do reflect diversity with 
regards to their ethnicity and cultural backgrounds.     
 
IRO’s along with other managers, complete the monthly Practice Evaluation programme 
which has a theme each month and provides learning through the service as an outcome.  
IRO’s report that they have had lots of involvement in final care planning for a backlog of 
final hearings that had been delayed during the Covid pandemic.  This involved reading 
parenting and other assessments and making recommendations about the final care plan 
and providing the IRO views in writing so that they can be included in the final social work 
statement at court. 
 
The IROs are managed by a full-time Quality Assurance Manager who provides them with 
supervision and working within Quality Assurance and Service Improvement ensures that 
there is a culture of continuous review and development of the service. 
 
Within the QA service, IRO’s and Child Protection Chairs are trained to ‘cross over’ when 
the need arises.  All IRO’s have chaired Child Protection Conferences when the need has 
arisen; it is best practice for the allocated IRO to be consistent through the child/young 
person’s journey while in care however, child protection chairs have provided IRO cover 
when essential.  Some IRO’s and CPC’s have a caseload which reflects both child 
protection and children looked after young people. 
 
 
 

Administrative Support 
 
The IROs are supported by business support workers who manage and arrange the 
administration of the reviews, send out invitations and consultation documents and 
distribute the IRO recommendations and reports.   
 
 
 
 

 

Quantitative information - Looked After population and the IRO service 
 
 
 

Key Messages 
 

32



Page | 4 
 

The Looked After population for 2022/2023 has ranged from 188, with a higher number of 
195 in October 2022, dropping to 179 in March 2023.  IRO caseloads have been within the 
recommended 50-70 set out in the IRO Handbook.  
 
A total of 542 Reviews were Chaired by IROs in the year ending 31st March 2023 showing 
a slight decrease of 3.7%. 
 

Many children and young people who started to be Looked After were aged at 16 plus 
(39%).  This is a higher percentage from last year where 37.2% of young people coming 
into care were over the age of 16. 
67 Looked After Reviews concerned children and young people with a disability.  In these 
circumstances the increased time required to elicit the wishes and feelings of a child with 
additional needs is to be recognised.  This is an increase from the previous period of 63 
reviews where children and young people had a disability.  
 

In terms of permanency outcomes during 2022/23, 38.1% of children and young people 
returned home to live with parents or relatives and 3.5% were adopted.  Compared to the 
previous period, figures are higher; 2021/22 which showed 31.1% of children and young 
people returning home to live with parents or relatives and 3.8% were adopted.  
 
   
 
 

 
 

Looked After population during 2022/23:  
 
 

 
 

 
The age profile of children and young people entering care during the period: 
 

8.6% of children who started to be looked after during the year ending 31st March 2023 
were aged less than 1 
10.5% of children were aged 1 to 4 
10.5% of children were aged 5 to 9 
31.4% of children were aged 10 to 15 
39% were over 16 
 

A national benchmarking survey (December 2013) identified that the average caseload for 
IROs ranged between 49 and 95.  Within Harrow, across the year, IROs have had an 

33



Page | 5 
 

average caseload of 45.  IRO’s have a balanced caseload so that complexity and distance 
are shared equitably across the service.  
 
During 2022/23 the IROs have continued to have several other responsibilities with their 
Championing roles in the areas of permanency planning, Health Assessments, Personal 
Education Plans (working with the Virtual School) and Participation; IRO’s are currently 
working to re-establish these champion roles following the impact of a different way of 
working during and after the pandemic.  The IROs undertake training for foster carers with 
regards to the role of the IRO and the Looked After Children process.  IROs also have 
links with the social work teams and attend Team meetings, including with the Fostering 
Team, Children Looked After and Children in Need Teams, Leaving Care and 
Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children Team and the Children and Young Adults 
Disabilities Service (CYADS).  One of the IRO’s delivers induction sessions on the role of 
the IRO to new trainees.  This helps to improve consistency within the social work teams 
and to build up good working relationships between the IROs and social worker. 
 
IRO’s are involved in permanency planning; Age Assessment, attend strategy meetings 
and offer advice regarding young people who are missing and liaise with Court Guardians.  
IRO’s attend the IRO London forum and bring to the Team any research and learning 
shared at this meeting.  The IRO’s continue to support the Child Protection Chairs in rolling 
out the Signs of Safety workshops throughout the service by co delivery of the training.  
The IRO’s keep updated on relevant policies and procedures. They continue to be part of 
the Practice Evaluation programme which looks at practice and performance.  One of the 
IRO’s is looking to update the health referral form for Children in Care to ensure that this is 
age appropriate and current. 
 
In the period 2019/20 the number of the Looked After population was between 175 and 
193.  August 2020 saw a rise in the number, with a figure of 202, reaching 207 in 
December 2020, before returning to pre covid levels in March 2021 with a figure of 182.  In 
January 2022 the number rose to 195, in March 2022 slightly reducing to 190.  On 31 
March 2023 this number dropped to 179 (numbers increased during the covid period 
before becoming stable).     
 
During this time social care has continued to deliver some services and support to young 
people virtually.  IRO’s undertake face to face reviews at placement and within the local 
Children’s Centre and use the hybrid model with some reviews taking place virtually. IRO’s 
have worked hard in trying to keep young people interested and active in participating in 
some way in their meetings. 
 
 

Why are Children Looked After? 
 
During the period children and young people have come into care for a variety of reasons 
including: a young baby’s parents having a complex history of vulnerability, both care 
leavers with a history of very poor mental health, domestic abuse.  Breakdown of 
relationship between parent and a 16-year-old young person resulting in the assault of a 
parent; a 7-year-old becoming the subject of Police Protection following an allegation of 
physical abuse by mother and a medical which determined non accidental injury.  Young 
person in foster care for the duration of a police investigation into allegations of sexual 
assault of his female sibling.  Young people coming into care where there is CSE or CCE 
following missing periods and young unaccompanied minors seeking asylum.   

 

34



Page | 6 
 

 
Permanency Outcomes 
 
During the period 2022/23, most children have achieved permanency through a return 

home to live with parents 38.1%.  

The profile in terms of children leaving care as of 31st March 2023: 
 
38.1% Returned home to live with parents/relatives. 
24.8% Moved into Independent Living. 
10.6% Turned 18 and remained in same care arrangement 
8.8% Special Guardianship Order granted. 
4.4% Child moved abroad 
3.5% Adopted  
1.8% Sentenced to Custody 
1.8% Child Arrangement Order 
0.9% Died 
0.9% Age assessment child is 18 or over 
 
 
 

Entitlements and Advocacy 
 

The All Party Parliamentary Group for Looked-After Children and Care Leavers Inquiry 
(2013) asked children and young people what the most important entitlements for looked-
after children and care leavers were. The All Party Parliamentary Group selected the five 
that the children and young people said were most important for looked-after children and 
for care leavers.   
 
IROs have routinely considered children and young peoples’ experience of the ten 
entitlements and have raised issue with the local authority where appropriate.   
 
 
IROs findings on the entitlements for looked-after children for the year ending 31st 
March 2023 
 
1. There is an expectation that all looked after children have a Care Plan that says what 

their needs are now, what will be done to meet those needs and the plans for their 
future.  However, there are occasions when IROs have highlighted that these need to 
be updated to reflect the child’s current situation. 
 

2. There is an expectation that all looked after children have a Care Plan that sets out 
their views, particularly for those aged 4 years and above.  

 
3. 100% of children of an appropriate age, had information about their entitlements, 

including information about decision making processes and professionals’ 
responsibilities to hold a review before any significant decision is made in relation to 
their care plan. This information is sent out by the CLA admin and includes ‘The Young 
Person’s Guide to Care Planning’, ‘CLA Guide Leaflet’ and ‘Independent Visitor 
Leaflet’, complaints procedure information and for open to the Leaving Care Team, a 
copy of the Leaving Care Charter. 

 

35



Page | 7 
 

4. There is an expectation that when a social worker visits or has contact with a child or 
young person, they must speak to them alone unless the child or young person 
refuses, or it is not appropriate at that time, or the social worker is unable to.   
 
 

Advocacy and Independent Visitors service provision in Harrow is currently provided by 
Community Solutions (Harrow Mencap) as part of commissioned services. IRO’s can 
make referrals directly through Community Solutions via the electronic system (Mosaic).  
The Youth Justice Board commission’s advocacy services for young people detained in 
young offender institutions (YOIs) and secure training centres (STCs). 
 
IROs routinely check that children and young people know about advocacy and how it can 
support them in having a real say in decisions affecting their lives.  This is evidenced by 
the IRO recording within the Review report indicating when an advocate is involved. 
 
IROs have continued to help ensure that children have access to advocacy, but it is 
important that they continue to discuss at Reviews and record in their reports whether a 
referral to an Advocate is appropriate, including when this has taken place. Advocacy can 
be essential for the children and young people and these processes can make a vital 
contribution to safeguarding and promoting their welfare and rights.   
 
Within the initial pack that is sent by the looked after administrators to all children when 
they first become looked after there is information about their review, the Access to 
Records leaflet, advocacy, The Harrow Children’s Pledge, how to make a complaint and 
information about Independent Visitors; also, the Young Peoples Guide to the Care 
Planning and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010. The Independent Reviewing 
Officers check within the Review as to whether a child or young person has received all 
this information and whether they understand the information including the Harrow 
Children’s Pledge.  Going forward the pack will be refreshed and updated. 
 
 
 

Timeliness of reviews 
 

IRO’s completed some reviews in a series of meetings to ensure the relevant people were 
involved and the meeting remained child focused and friendly.  During this period there 
has been a drop in performance regarding achieving timescale for reviews as the team 
experienced long term sickness and recruitment of an interim IRO in that time.  IRO’s and 
Child Protection chairs covered reviews where possible during this time.  Those reviews 
that were out of time, were so by no more than a few weeks and this did not adversely 
impact on care planning. 
 

 

36



Page | 8 
 

 
 
 

 

Qualitative information - Achievements and impact of IRO service 
 
 

Key Messages 
 
 

IROs routinely check whether children know about individual advocacy and how to make a 
complaint. They also check at Reviews whether an independent visitor is needed, and any 
communication needs requiring additional or specialist support. 
 
 
 
 

Children and young people’s preparation and involvement in Reviews 
 
During the period 78.4% of children and young people over the age of 4 were able to 
participate in their review; this includes attending and/or contributing to their Review.  This 
shows an improvement from last year’s figure of 76%. 
 
Less than 10% of children and young people did not participate nor convey their views, in 
their Reviews for the year ending 31st March 2023.  
 

IRO’s have supported and encouraged young people to be actively involved in their review 
including a role in part chairing their own review or setting their own agendas wherever 
appropriate. 
 
IRO’s attend other significant meetings such as Strategy meetings; give advice when 
young people go missing and in relation to high-risk cases; involvement in Permanency 
Planning and monitoring with cases going through Court. 
 
 

Quality of Care Planning  
 

IROs continue to monitor the quality-of-Care Plans and raise through the Monitoring Forms 
and Dispute Resolution Protocol any concerns about the care planning process. Children 
and young people can expect to contribute to their care plan and to expect that they will 
have their own copy. IROs routinely check that the care planning process has helped 

37



Page | 9 
 

children and young people to have their say about matters important to them and helped 
them to understand what is happening and why. 
 
 

Progress-chasing Activities between Looked After Reviews 
 
All children and young people are sent details of their IRO in the initial pack when they 
become looked after.  IROs will follow up after Reviews on the most complex of cases and 
expect to be informed of significant meetings to do with a child and to be consulted with 
regards to changes in care planning, significant events or the disruption of a placement.  
This period has involved building and testing a system on Mosaic where IROs will be 
provided with an update from the social worker at the midpoint between Reviews. 
 

 
Management oversight 
 

The statutory Guidance states that operational social work managers must consider the 
decisions from the Review before they are finalised. This is due in part to the need to 
ensure any resource implications have been addressed. Once the decisions are 
completed the Manager has 5 days to raise any queries or objections.  This has been 
achieved by the IRO electronically sending a Task to the relevant manager once the 
decisions have been completed.  The manager then has 5 working days to complete the 
Task if they are happy with the decisions or respond to the IRO if they do not agree with 
any of the decisions.  The outcome of these across the period indicates that managers are 
overwhelmingly satisfied with the decisions made at Reviews.  
 
 

Children’s Views about their IRO and their review process 
 

The Participation Officer has been supporting a system of feedback from children and 
young people to obtain their views.  This also allows them to comment about their 
experience of their IRO and other aspects of their care.  During the period 2022/23, there 
has been a Role Profile review of the Participation Officer (PO).  This has resulted in a 
strong focus on our children looked after and care leavers.  The feedback that the PO 
gathered through speaking and meeting with children and young people is very clear, 
thorough, and detailed and the views and wishes shine through this feedback. A 
consultation form is completed and made available to the IRO before the review. Their 
views are also contained within the IRO reports following Reviews. 
 

 

 
 

Quality Assurance of the IRO Service 
 
 

Identifying good practice, problem resolution and escalation 
 

There continues to be processes in place to highlight and resolve issues identified using 
the IRO Monitoring Form and Dispute Resolution Protocol.  The IROs also identify 
examples of good practice and work with the Participation Officer to receive feedback from 
young people.  Young people are aware of the role of the IRO and comment that they are 
aware of there up coming review meetings.  While some young people do not wish to 

38



Page | 10 
 

attend their review, they are encouraged to provide feedback and to speak separately with 
the IRO before their meeting.   
 
 

Monitoring Forms 
 
 

 
 

 
Key information obtained through the Monitoring Forms completed by IROs: 
 

• By 2nd Review, there was a Permanency Plan in place for a large majority of 85.5% 
of children.  Those where there was not a Permanency Plan by 2nd Review tended 
to be complex cases being in care proceedings, with assessments not yet 
completed and there being more than one potential plan, dependent on the 
outcome of those assessments. 
 

• With regards to social worker visits, across the year a large majority of 76% took 
place within timescale.  This shows a slight drop in the figure against last year 
which was 86%.  This meant that 24% of visits did not take place within timescale. 
This also shows a drop in performance than seen last year where the figure was 
13% which had been an improvement on the previous two annual periods. These 
issues were addressed by the IRO, either using the Monitoring Form or the Dispute 
Resolution Protocol and it is expected that an improvement will be seen in the next 
annual period.  
 

• Across the year a similar figure as seen last year with over 85% of children and 
young people having an up-to-date Health Assessment at the time of their review.  
The Children Looked After Health team continued to work to improve practice to 
ensure that health information was relevant, timely and uploaded on to the child’s 
casefile as promptly as possible.   
 

• Across the year over 68% of children and young people had an up-to-date Personal 
Education Plan at the time of their review.  This meant that 32% of cases either 
needed a Personal Education Plan to be completed or updated.  This period has 

39



Page | 11 
 

seen a drop in performance with children and young people having up to date 
Personal Education Plans at the time of their review.  Completion of PEP’s in a 
timely manner will remain an on-going priority within Children’s Services to ensure 
that Personal Education Plans are up-to-date and on casefiles. 

 
 
 

Dispute Resolution Protocol 
 

 
 

 
 
Key information obtained through the Dispute Resolution Protocols initiated by IROs: 
 

 Throughout the year Dispute Resolution Protocols were raised in respect of 11 
children, 7 Child Looked After Reviews.  Three were resolved at Stage 1 between 
the IRO and Team Manager. The disputes related to invite lists and social workers 
reports not being completed; Care Plans and Pathway Plans not reviewed and 
updated.   
 

 All of these were resolved at Stage 1 by the outstanding actions being completed or 
dates set for required actions to take place and managers taking forward visit 
timescales to ensure these improved to the required levels.   
 
 

 Dispute Resolution Protocols were raised in respect of 7 young people; 5 Child 
Looked After Reviews and resolved at Stage 2, issues raised by IRO-: No record on 
the case file of social work visits undertaken between reviews; An 18 year old 
required an update Pathway Plan reflecting support and services and to agreed 
forward planning around accommodation, further education, finances and mental 
health support.  No social workers report or updated Pathway Plan for a young 
person 20 weeks pregnant.  Delay in progressing a referral for a Paediatric 
Assessment and the IRO not being updated following an allegation from the young 
person against the foster carer.  Changes to the care plan, children returned to live 

40



Page | 12 
 

with father and grandparents which raised safeguarding concerns (this was 
satisfactorily progressed within an agreed timescale by AD).   
 

 These issues raised were addressed and progressed by the Team Managers and 
AD with satisfactory outcomes. In one case, the learning from the dispute raised 
was discussed at the Social Work Management School to emphasis and outline the 
role of the IRO in care planning and the importance of updating the IRO.  
 
 

Supervision and training 
 

IROs have scheduled monthly supervision and adhoc case discussion as required. This is 
provided by their manager.  IROs have Appraisals and are encouraged to attend training 
to meet the Social Work England registration requirements plus areas of interest and 
development.  
 
 

Any resource issues that are putting at risk the delivery of a quality 
service 
 

The IRO role is not to identify the resources needed to meet a young person’s needs but 
to ensure that the team around the young person, their carers and the young person 
themselves understand the changing needs of the young person, and that services are 
appropriately identified and delivered.  In addition, their views on individual children and 
their care plans are fed into the Child Care Planning Group which meets monthly, chaired 
by the Divisional Director, to ensure that planning is progressing in a timely manner so that 
permanency is achieved for looked after children as swiftly as possible. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Achievements for this last year  
 

 
Good quality of IRO reports and recommendations to ensure that recommendations are 
SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, realistic, and timely). IRO’s continue to 
highlight good practice and development directly with social workers and line mangers. 
 
Using the newly developed and updated Opening Statement to use at reviews and other 
meetings. 
 
Monitoring of Health Assessments/SDQs to ensure that young people are supported with 
their physical and emotional health outcomes. 

 
Monitoring of the quality of Personal Education Plans and that they are being used to 
support children and young people attend and attain in their education. 

 
Where children have a period of missing from care, they have Return Home interviews and 
that there is an understanding of what the push pull factors are in order to reduce this 
happening. 
 

41



Page | 13 
 

Continue to monitor care planning and escalate through the Dispute Resolution Protocol 
and Care Planning Group, where there is unreasonable delay or no permanency plan by 
2nd Review.  Overall, there is good practice in Harrow regarding permanency planning.   

 
Link with the Participation Officer, Complaints and Advocacy services to ensure there is 
continuous learning from feedback from children and young people; parents, professionals 
and carers.  Overall young people report positively about the value of their relationship 
with social workers and carers. 
 
IRO’s have seen children and young people face to face and continue to ensure they could 
see and engage with younger children, on Teams and via WhatsApp video calls, visits, 
and phone calls.  They operate a Hybrid model for CLA reviews held in Children’s Centres 
in the community. 
 
IRO’s have attended Adoption Selection Panel when requested to ensure they are 
involved in the care planning and placement matching. 
 
 

 

Annual work programme with areas for improvement for next year April 
2023 – March 2024 
 

Targets for the following areas have been identified and the service expects to deliver 
improvements during the period, contributing to Key Measurable outcomes linked to the 
following: 
 
 
 

 

• IRO reports to continue to reflect and ensure the voice of the child; link with the new 
Participation Officer to promote this.  IRO’s to attend Adoption Selection Panel as and 
when requested. 
 

• IRO service, including administrative staff to continue to monitor that correct processes 
are followed and help raise standards with regards to invitations being sent out in a 
timely manner with consultation papers; social worker’s reports for reviews always 
completed before the review and that information is accurately recorded on casefiles 
and kept up-to-date to reflect the child’s journey. 
   

• IRO’s to progress their Champion roles. 
 

• To continue to undertake some Reviews in Children’s Centres in the community using 
a Hybrid model, having face to face contact with Children, Young People, Parents and 
Carers where agencies can contribute virtually 
 

• To continue to monitor Health Assessments/SDQs to ensure that they are supporting 
physical and emotional health outcomes.   
 

• To continue to monitor the quality of Personal Education Plans and that they are being 
used to support children and young people attend and attain in their education and 
support their ambitions for a move towards independence, further education, and 
employment. 

 

42



Page | 14 
 

• To continue to monitor care planning and escalate through the Dispute Resolution 
Protocol and Care Planning Group, where there is unreasonable delay or no 
permanency plan by 2nd Review.  Reviews will continue to be delivered in a timely 
manner to meet statutory requirements. 

  

• Maintaining standards of good quality IRO reports and recommendations which are 
SMART and to review in supervision. 

 

• The IRO Role Profile will be updated to reflect the dual role while maintaining separate 
services between the IRO and the child protection chair.  There will be consultation on 
merging the IRO service with CP chairs through the CYPS re design. 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Overview and Summary 
 
Our service has continued to move forward undertaking face to face reviews and operating 
a Hybrid model for reviews being held virtually.  Using Teams and having face to face 
visits has worked well and enabled young people, parents, and other agencies to have 
various methods available to be able to engage in the review.  Having such experienced 
and established IROs has been beneficial in providing more consistency for looked after 
children and has assisted with the process of challenge where it has been appropriate.   
 
 
The IRO service continues to be vital in helping to ensure that care planning for looked 
after children progresses in a timely manner, including hearing the voice of the child and 
that there is a holistic approach to looked after children with consideration of their health 
needs, including mental health, as well as education, stability of their home and where 
possible contact with their family and that, where appropriate, there is independent 
escalation and challenge to achieve this.   
 
 

43



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Parenting Panel
18th March 2024

Virtual School Updates

Mellina Williamson-Taylor 

Headteacher Harrow Virtual School

45

A
genda Item

 11
P

ages 45 to 54



Key Updates

o Drawing and Talking.
o End of Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 

Predictions. 
o NEETs
o Post -16 Case Studies
o Higher Education

46



Drawing and Talking

• Drawing and talking is a therapeutic intervention suitable for 
children, adolescents and adults which focuses on prevention, early 
intervention and recovery of mental health issues through 
therapeutic play work.

• The young person is with the Drawing and Talking practitioner for 
30 minutes, once a week over 12 sessions. 

• Within the sessions, the young person will draw anything they 
choose and will be encouraged to talk about feelings using 
storytelling language to help them make sense of their internal 
world.

• The technique is intended to allow the young person to process 
any emotions they are holding internally in a safe and non- 
confrontational way.

• Practitioners are trained by Drawing and Talking Ltd and receive 
ongoing supervision. www.drawingandtalking.com

47

http://www.drawingandtalking.com/


Drawing and Talking – The Outcomes

• It allows us to build emotional resilience and an understanding of 
human connection.

• As it is an internal process it can take a while to see any outcomes.

• Greater self-esteem

• Ability to make important and safe human connections

• Happier

• Reduction in anxieties

• Resolution of internal turmoil

THEREFORE, BETTER ABLE TO ACCESS AND NAVIGATE THE WORLD BOTH SOCIALLY 
AND EMOTIONALLY!

48



Drawing and Talking – The Outcomes

They had a spring 
in their step 

coming to the 
sessions.

They are definitely 
calmer in class.

Friendship issues 
have greatly 
improved.

The young person 
didn’t rely on the 

usual adult support 
to manage some of 

their feelings.

49



KS2 Predictions 

There are 3 
pupils in 
Year 6. All 
have been 
in care for 
over a year.
 

‘Achieving 
Expected’ in 
all three 
area 
(reading, 
writing and 
numeracy).

‘Achieving 
Expected’ in 
Reading

 

‘Achieving
Expected’ in
Writing

‘Achieving
Expected’ in 
Numeracy

All Year 6s
1 out of 3 = 
33%

1 out of 3 = 
33%

1 out of 3 = 
33%

1 out of 3 = 
33%

In care 
12 months 
+ 

1 out of 3 = 
33%

1 out of 3 = 
33%

1 out of 3 = 
33%

1 out of 3 = 
33%

• 2 pupils in Year  have an 
EHCP.

• 1 pupil is on roll at a 
Special School.

• 33% (1/3 ) is predicted to  
achieve ‘expected’ across 
Reading, Writing and 
Maths. The national 
average is 32%.

• 33% (1/3 ) is predicted to  
achieve expected standards 
in both Writing and Maths. 
The national average for  
Writing is  42% and is 44% 
for Maths. 

• Due to small numbers the 
DfE would not publish 
these in the statistical 
return. 

50



KS4 Predictions 

• Nearly half of the 
cohort are 
predicted to pass 
at least one GCSE.

• 47% of students  
are predicted to 
obtain a good 
English grade.

• 7 Year 11 students 
have an education, 
health and care 
plan (EHCP).

• 7 Year 11 students 
have an identified 
social, emotional 
and mental health  
need (SEMH) 

17 students are in Year 11. 

15 students have been in 

care for over a year.

 

Predicted to achieve at 

least 1 

GCSE pass (Grades 1-9)

Predicted to achieve 

at least 5 good GCSE 

passes (Grades 4 or 

above). 

Predicted achieve 

both English and 

Maths GCSES at 

Grade 4 or above.

 

Predicted to achieve  

GCSE English at 

Grade 4 or above. 

Predicted to 

achieve  GCSE 

Maths at Grade 4 

or above.

All Yr 11s 8/17 = 47% 6/17 = 35 % 5/17 = 29% 7/ 17= 47% 5/17 = 29%

12 months + 7/15= 47% 6/15 = 40% 5/15 = 33% 7/15= 47% 5/15 = 33%

51



NEET Updates 

We currently  offer support to: 
• 14 Post 16
• 7 Post 18 

NEET Figures
January 2024 21 young people NEET

End February 2024 19 young people NEET

Signposted routes 

into EET

4 young people signposted to:

Employment Programmes

• Re-engagement Harrow Stop 
programme
Duration: 6 weeks
Programme overview: 
Workshops in skills, qualities and 
job adverts.
Workshops in smart goals, CV, 
apprenticeship and training 
event. 

• Princes Trust employability 
programme
Course details:
Duration: 12 weeks
Days/Time: Monday-Friday 09:00 
- 17:00
Programme overview: Can 
provide a young person with the 
opportunity to re-engage with 
education, develop skills and 
broaden their experiences, 
whilst gaining a nationally 
recognised qualification.

• Start -Lyric Programme
Course details:
Duration: 6 weeks
Programme Overview: Re-
engagement in education, 
employment and training 
programme with an
Arts Award Level 1 Bronze 
Qualification (short course)

4 Young people signposted to:

Applications for further education 
start date September 2024.
• West Thames College 
• Harrow College
• Barking and Dagenham College
• Peterborough College 

1 Young 
person

Missing- 
January 
2024 

Apprenticeships

2 young person already in apprenticeships 
posts
• Be Active Sports – March 2024 TBC
• Childcare January 2024 

1 young person signposted to:

• HRUC apprenticeships – Business 
Administration

2 young people 
signposted to:

Work Experience

• Hair and Beauty
• Barbering

3 young people 
signposted to:

Employment

• Retail 
• Construction
• Hair and Beauty 

3 young people signposted to:

Signposted to FE (rolling starts)

• Burleigh College (Core 
subject retakes)

• Build Hayes Construction 
provision 

1 young 
person  
signposted 
to:

SEN Provision

Referred to 
SEN 
provision 

52



Case Study

DOB 2006 (18 years old) 

Key Stage 4 outcomes Core Subjects 
GCSE English Lit Grade 7
GCSE English Language Grade 6
GCSE Maths Grade 5
GCSE Biology  Grade 7
GCSE Chemistry Grade 6 
GCSE Physics Grade 6
Additional Accreditations
GCSE History Grade 6
GCSE Art Grade 8
GCSE Music Grade 9
GCSE Sociology Grade 6
Grade German Grade 4

Post 16 • Was enrolled at Uxbridge College on
Level 3 Art and Design

• Received a Stage 4 and was permanently excluded. 

Signposted Destination West Thames College Sept 2024
Level 3 Arts and Design.

Preparing them for FE • Illustration project opportunities through Prospects 
and Council to build their portfolio

• To exhibit at the Harrow Art Centre
• Explored apprenticeships (declined one to 

concentrate on returning to college.
• On waiting lists for Harrow CAMHs referral to Virtual 

Schools therapeutic services 
• Currently exploring work experience in the art 

industry

Employment 
Progression Pathway

• Higher Education to study illustration
• Freelance employment in illustration

Case Study

DOB 2007 (17 years old)

Key Stage 4 outcomes GCSE Core Subjects: 
GCSE maths Grade 6
GCSE Combine Science 6-5
GCSE English Literature 7
GCSE English Language Grade 5
GCSE / Vocational Subjects:
GCSE Music Grade 6
GCSE Media Studies Grade 7
GCSE PE Grade 7
GCSE Geography Grade 3 
GCSE French Grade 7
GCSE RS Grade 5

Post 16 • Was enrolled at Oaklands College which was too far away 
from the placement.

• Moved to West Herts to study Level 3 National 
Foundation Diploma in Sport Coaching and  
Development.

•  Was permanently excluded due to poor attendance.

Signposted Destination Be Active Apprenticeship
Details TBC 
Start date: March 2024

Preparing them for FE • VS and Prospects signposted him to apprenticeship
• IAG meeting with prospects 
• *CV reviewed by VS and Prospects
• House visits from VS
Previously offered:
• *Offered Princes Trust employability programme
• *Offered Brentford football club employability 

programme
• *Offered Harrow, Richmond and Uxbridge College 

Apprenticeship
• Offered Employment opportunities
• CAMHs case to stay open

Employment Progression 
Pathway

• Employment in the sport industry.

53



Higher Education

Organisation start 
date 2020
• London 
Metropolitan 

University 

Organisation start date 
2022 

• University of Surrey
• University of York

Organisation start date 
2023

• Sheffield University 
• Ravensbourne 

university 

Projection

Organisation start date 
2024

Organisation start 
date 2025

14 Students

2  Students1  Student 1  Student

6 Students
These are the identified young people that are on track to 

access HE in the form of University or a Degree 
apprenticeship.

2  Students

Organisation Start date 
2021

• Kingston University 

This identifies the chosen HE intuitions of past cohorts.

54



Harrow Children Looked After 

Health Service 

Corporate Parenting Panel 

March 2024

Christine Nichols – Named Nurse 

for Children Looked After Harrow

55

A
genda Item

 12
P

ages 55 to 64



KPI’s for Harrow CLA Jan – Feb 2024

Month Target for IHA 100% 

CNWL within 20 days of 

child becoming CLA

Target for  RHA 100%

CNWL within 6/12 

months
January 100% 100%

February 100% 100%

Exception reporting excludes:
• requests and consent not made available within 3 days for IHA’s and within 3 months for RHA’s, 
• CLA who do not attend or refuse appointments given or are missing 
• CLA placed out of Harrow who depend upon another provider to offer an appointment.

56



Other Service Specification Requirements

The CLA team also assist the London Borough of 

Harrow to:

• Record and report dates of dental checks following 

health assessment 

• To update immunisation status of each CLA 

following health assessment where possible

• GP Registration

• Record and report dates of Optician Checks

57



Initial Health Assessments Completed
Month 

2023

Total Due IHA completed 

within 20 days 

(percentage / 

number)

IHA completed 

outside of 

timescale

(percentage / 

number)

IHA not yet 

completed

(percentage / 

number)

January 2 50% (1) 50% (1) 0% (0)
February 10 60% (6) 20% (2) 20% (2)

Time scales from CYP identified as CLA to completion of  IHA  
Total Number  of  CYP =   12
➢ within 20 days  - 7
➢ between day 21- 30 - 1
➢ between day 31- 40 - 2
➢ day 41+ (includes not yet seen) - 2 (Appointments booked for March 2024).
➢ *

58



Reasons for Late Completion of IHAs

Summary  
of reasons 
for late 
IHA's

Month

No of 
requests 
received 

Late requests 
for IHA  to 
CLA team 

Carer 
Declined / 
Cancelled 

Appointment

DNA / 
WNB

Referral / 
Consent 

issues 

Refusal 
by 

Young 
person  

OoB 
placement 

Placement 
move 

Young 
Person in 
Hospital 
/Missing 
/ YOI / 
Tagged

January 2 1

February 10 7 1 1 1

59



Themes for Completion of IHAs

• Contributing challenges for completion are late requests* , 

DNA’s and carers declining appointments. 

7/12 (58.3%) of requests for IHA were received outside 

timescales. 3 of the 7 late requests were seen in timescales. 

No of requests received within

Day 4-5 – 1

Day 6-10 - 2

Day 11-20 - 1

Day 21-40 – 3 (received after due date)

• Other reasons can be unpredictable eg placement moves, 

placed out of borough etc

• * (late referrals and late consents)

60



Review Health Assessments Completed
Month 

2023

Total Due RHA completed 

within timescale

(percentage / 

number)

RHA completed 

outside of 

timescale

(percentage / 

number)

RHA not yet 

completed

(percentage / 

number)

January 16 81.25% (13) 18.75% (3) 0% (0)
February 16 75% (12) 12.5% (2) 12.5% (2)

Time scales from CYP identified as CLA to completion of  RHA  
Total Number  of  CYP =   32

Number seen:
within statutory timescales – 25
late - between day 1-10 – 2
late - between day 11-20 – 1
late – between day 21-30 – 2
late – 31+ days plus (includes not yet seen) - 2 (Appointments booked for March 2024)

*

61



Reasons for completing RHA late

Summary  of reasons for 
late RHA's

No of 
requests 
received 

Late 
requests 
for RHA 

Carer 
Declined / 
Cancelled 

Appointment

DNA / 
WNB

Referral / 
Consent 
issues 

Refusal by 
Young 
person  

OoB
placement 

Placement 
move 

Young 
Person in 
Hospital 

January 16 8 3 3

February 16 7 3 4 2

62



Themes for Late Completion of RHAs

• The main factor contributing to completing RHA’s outside of timescale 

are late requests, carers declining appointments and young people 

DNA’ing.

• 15/32 (46.88%) requests for RHA were received outside timescales. 11 

out of the 15 late requests were completed in timescales. 

Late requests received within:

Weeks 12-10 - 5

Weeks 6-9 – 3

Weeks 5-2 - 6

1 Week or less – 1

• Other reasons are unpredictable eg sickness etc

63



Questions

64


	Agenda
	Corporate Parenting Panel Agenda
	Useful Information
	Joining the Meeting virtually
	Attending the Meeting in person
	Filming / recording
	Agenda - Part I
	1.	Attendance by Reserve Members
	2.	Declarations of Interest
	3.	Minutes
	4.	Public Questions
	5.	Petitions
	6.	Deputations
	7.	Update from Participation Service and Care Experienced Young People (Pages 5 - 14)
	8.	Update and performance for Corporate Parenting Service (To Follow)
	9.	Update from Coram Voice (Pages 15 - 28)
	10.	IRO Annual Report (Pages 29 - 44)
	11.	Virtual School Performance Update (Pages 45 - 54)
	12.	Update and performance on Health for Children Looked After (Pages 55 - 64)
	13.	Any Other Urgent Business

	Agenda - Part II - Nil




	7 Update from Participation Service and Care Experienced Young People
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10

	9 Update from Coram Voice
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12
	Slide 13

	10 IRO Annual Report
	11 Virtual School Performance Update
	Slide 1:  Corporate Parenting Panel 18th March 2024 
	Slide 2:  Key Updates
	Slide 3: Drawing and Talking
	Slide 4: Drawing and Talking – The Outcomes
	Slide 5: Drawing and Talking – The Outcomes
	Slide 6: KS2 Predictions 
	Slide 7: KS4 Predictions 
	Slide 8: NEET Updates 
	Slide 9
	Slide 10: Higher Education

	12 Update and performance on Health for Children Looked After

